I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 


The Circuit Court erred by ruling that the mere references to "any court of competent 

jurisdiction" or "a civil action" in other provisions of a contract will invalidate an otherwise clear 

and unambiguous arbitration provision in that same contract. 

ll. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. BACKGROUND. This case arises from a dispute involving mineral interests 

underlying real property ["Subject Property"] owned by Respondents, Richard and Mary Long 

["Respondents"]. Specifically, Respondents claim that they were not paid the full amount of the 

bonus payment promised by ALL Resources, LLC ["ALL"], when ALL leased the oil and gas 

underlying Respondent's property. 1 

Subsequently, ALL assigned all of its interests to Chesapeake Appalachia, LLC 

["CHK"], which tendered a "Delay in Marketing" and/or shut-in rental to extend the 

secondary term, but Respondents refused to cash CHK's check.2 

Thereafter, CHK assigned its rights to Petitioner, SWN Production Company, LLC 

["SWN"], against which Respondents seek declaratory relief, as well as compensatory damages 

for claims of trespass, unjust enrichment, and wrongful taking/conversion.3 

Because the original ALL Lease which was ultimately assigned to SWN contained an 

arbitration provision, SWN filed a motion to compel arbitration,4 which was denied by the Circuit 

Court,S and is from that ruling that SWN has filed its appeal. 

1 [APP 2-9] 


2 [APP 4, 13-20] 


3 [APP 13-20] 




B. ARBITRATION PROVISION. On December 15, 2008, Respondents and ALL 

executed a three-page "PAID-UP OIL & GAS LEASE.))6 The ALL Lease contains the following 

clear and unambiguous arbitration provision: 

ARBITRATION. In the event of a disagreement between Lessor and Lessee 
concerning this Lease, performance thereunder, or damages caused by Lessee's 
operations, the resolution of all such disputes shall be determined by arbitration in 
accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association. All fees and 
costs associated with the arbitration shall be borne equally by Lessor and Lessee.? 

It is abundantly clear that Respondents' civil action fits squarely within this arbitration provision. 

C. CIVIL LITIGATION. In their Complaint, Respondents allege that they are the 

present owners of approximately 113.71 acres of mineral rights in Union District, Marshall 

County, West Virginia.8 According to Respondents' Complaint, they were promised $113,710.00 

in bonus payment, but only received $44,544.00.9 Specifically, their Complaint relies upon the 

provisions of the ALL Lease in seeking damages as follows: 

7. The Long Lease stated Plaintiffs would receive $1,000 per acre as an 
upfront bonus payment in consideration for execution of the Long Lease; for the 

4 [Id.] 

5 [APP 75-81] 

6 [APP 21-25] 

? [APP 22] The inclusion of arbitration provisions in oil and gas leases is quite common and a 
number of courts have granted motions to compel arbitration in similar contexts. See Heller v. TriEnergy) 
Inc., 2012 WL 2740870 at *11 (N.D. W. Va.); Fellowship v. Chesapeake Energy Corp., 2016 WK 5661607 at 
*3 (N.D. Ohio); Robbins v. Chesapeake Energy Corp., 2012 WL 6012377 at *3 (M.D. Pa.); Sonda v. 
Chesapeake Appalachia) LLC, 2012 WL 5471763, at *2-3 (N.D. W. Va.); Holmes v. Chesapeake Appalachia) 
LLC, 2012 WL 3647674, at *9-10 (N.D. W. Va.); Dytko v. Chesapeake Appalachia) LLC, 2014 WL 
2440496 (N.D. W. Va.). 

8 [APP 3] 

9 [Id.] 
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113.71 acres the total upfront bonus payment due and owing was $113,710.00 
("Long Bonus Payment"). 

8. Plaintiffs were only paid $44,544.00 as an upfront bonus. 

9. Plaintiffs believed the $44,544.00 was a partial payment for one or more of 
the several tracts ofland included in the Long Lease that made up the 113.71 acres, 
not the entire 113.71 acres. 

10. However, Plaintiffs were never paid the remaining balance of the Long 
Bonus Payment, as was explicitly agreed upon as consideration for execution of 
the Long Lease. 10 

In other words, because Respondents allege they never received their entire bonus 

payment "as was explicitly agreed upon in the Long Lease," II they are entitled to (1) a 

declaration of invalidity of the Lease; (2) a rescission of the Lease and unjust enrichment 

damages; (3) conversion and trespass damages; (4) intentional infliction of emotional distress 

damages; (5) an order enjoining any reentry on their property; and (6) punitive damages. 12 

D. MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION. In response to the Complaint, SWN 

filed a motion to compel arbitration and dismiss, noting that that Lease plainly states, "In the 

event of a disagreement between Lessor and Lessee concerning this Lease, performance 

thereunder, or damages caused by Lessee's operations," which is squarely presented by the 

Complaint, "the resolution of all such disputes shall be determined by arbitration in accordance 

with the rules of the American Arbitration Association." 13 

10 [APP 3] 


II [APP 5] 


12 [APP 4-9] 


J3 [APP 10-26] CHK and ALL subsequently joined in SWK's motion. [APP 27-29] and [APP 63
64] 

3 


http:damages.12
http:44,544.00
http:44,544.00
http:113,710.00


Respondents' first argument in opposition stated, "In this brief the Plaintiffs specifically 

sever and challenge the validity and enforceability of the alleged arbitration language cited by the 

Defendants as opposed to a general challenge to the enforceability of the contract as a whole.)) 14 

In other words, when enforcement of the provisions of the Lease was beneficial to Respondents, 

they embraced and reaffirmed those provisions, but when enforcement of the provisions of the 

Lease was detrimental to Respondents, they rejected and disclaimed those provisions. 

Respondents' second argument in opposition stated, "The alleged arbitration agreement 

here is unenforceable because of a lack of assent demonstrated by the considerable ambiguity as 

to the right to file 'civil actions' in 'court[ s] of competent jurisdiction. ' "15 In other words, solely 

because the words "civil actions" and "court of competent jurisdiction" appear in the Lease, 

without any contextual considerations, the arbitration provision can be severed from the other 

contractual provisions that are necessary to Respondents' causes ofaction and declared invalid. 

The only case cited in Respondents' opposition to the motion to compel arbitration was 

State ex re!. Richmond American Homes of West Virginia) Inc. p. Sanders, 228 W. Va. 125, 717 

S.E.2d 909 (2011), which they argued stands for the proposition that where a contract contains 

any provision referencing civil remedies, an ambiguity arises as a matter of law precluding 

enforcement ofany arbitration provision in such contract. 16 

In reply to Respondents' opposition, SWN noted that they had misstated the law 

regarding the appropriate test for determining the enforceability of an arbitration agreement: 

14 [APP 36] 


15 [Id.] 


16 [APP 40-41] 
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Plaintiffs' Response misapprehends the doctrine of severability as it has been 
interpreted in West Virginia jurisprudence. The Supreme Court of Appeals of 
West Virginia recently provided the following explanation: 

The gist of the doctrine is that an arbitration clause in a larger 
contract must be carved out, severed from the larger contract, and 
examined separately. The doctrine "treats the arbitration clause as 
if it is a separate contract from the contract containing the 
arbitration clause, that is, the 'container contract.'» Under the 
doctrine, arbitration clauses must be severed from the remainder of 
a contract, and must be tested separately under state contract law 
for validity and enforceability. 

Id. While a trial court "may consider the context of the arbitration clause within 
the four corners of the contract,)) it can only look at those parts of the contract 
that "relate to, support, or are otherwise entangled with the operation of the 
arbitration clause." Id. at *17 (citation omitted). 

The Supreme Court further provided the following limitations to a trial court's 
mqmry: 

Once the arbitration clause has been severed or separated out for 
scrutiny, the FAA limits the trial court to considering only two 
threshold questions: (1) Under state contract law, is there a valid, 
irrevocable, and enforceable arbitration agreement between the 
parties? And, (2) Does the parties' dispute fall within the scope of 
the arbitration agreement?!7 

Id. at *19. 

Similarly, the United States District Court for the Northern District of West 
Virginia has provided, 

It is well established that, "if a party seeks to avoid arbitration 
and/or a stay of federal court proceedings pending the outcome of 
arbitration by challenging the validity or enforceability of an 
arbitration provision on any grounds that 'exist at law or in equity 
for the revocation of any contract,' ... the grounds 'must relate 
specifically to the arbitration clause and not just to the contract as a 
whole.' " 

17 Respondents have never disputed the second part of this test, i.e., whether the parties' dispute 
falls within the scope of the arbitration agreement nor could they in good faith dispute it where their 
claims are predicated upon enforcement ofwhat the allege to be the terms of the Lease. 
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Heller v. TriEnergy) Inc., 877 F. Supp. 2d 414, 431 (N.D. W. Va. 2012) (quoting 
Snowden v. CheckPoint Check Cashing, 290 F.3d 631, 636 (4th Cir. 2002) (quoting 
Hooters oJAm.) Inc. v. Phillips, 173 F.3d 933, 938 (4th Cir. 1999»).18 

Obviously, on its face, Respondents' argument that in order to determine whether the 

arbitration provision in the subject Lease is valid and enforceable, the Circuit Court need not look 

at the provision itself or the manner in which the Lease was negotiated and executed, but need 

only look at other provisions of the Lease, violates the requirements of federal law and this Court 

that "the arbitration clause [be] severed or separated out for scrutiny" and any challenge to its 

enforcement "relate specifically to the arbitration clause and not just to the contract as a whole." 

SWN further noted that Respondents' reliance on Richmond was similarly misplaced: 

Plaintiffs misconstrue the facts and holding of Richmond. In their Response, 
Plaintiffs state that, in Richmond, "a home construction/purchase agreement 
contained an alleged arbitration clause purporting that arbitration was the only 
remedy available to a homebuyer. Another provision of the lease intimated that 
the home buyer retained rights to bring civil actions in courts before judges." Id. 
at 10-11. However, in Richmond, the five references to civil actions in courts were 
located within the same contract provision - Section 21 (" Mediation and 
Arbitration") - as the arbitration language, 228 W. Va. at 140, 717 S.E.2d at 924, 
not in another provision, as Plaintiffs stated. Section 21 provided: 

[T]he parties must (1) seek to mediate their claims "before 
resorting to ... court action;" (2) must sign a document limiting 
the admissibility in "any civil action" ofany statements or evidence 
used in mediation; and (3) says that if a party "commences an 
arbitration or court action" without first seeking mediation, then 
(4) "in the discretion of the ... judge," the party cannot recover 
attorney fees even ifthey would otherwise be available (5) "in any 
such ... court action. " 

Id. The Supreme Court reasoned: 

The paragraph plainly intimates at least five times that a plaintiff 
retains the right to bring a civil action in a courtroom before a judge, 

18 [APP 45-46] 
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and absolutely muddles the language that follows stating that the 
plaintiff is barred from bringing a civil action and must only pursue a 
remedy before an arbitrator. 

Id. The above reasoning indicates that the pervasiveness and the location of the 
references to civil actions, within the same provision as the arbitration language, 
are what create the ambiguity and contradiction that invalidate the agreement to 
arbitrate. 

The case at bar is distinguishable from Richmond in that the Lease in question 
mentions civil actions only twice, and does not mention them within the same 
provision as the language of the arbitration agreement. See Ex. A. Thus, the 
references do not relate to or support the operation of the arbitration clause, nor 
are they otherwise entangled with its operation. 

Further, unlike the references from Section 21 of the Richmond lease, the 
references to civil actions in this case do not contemplate or permit such 
actions by the parties to the Lease. The Richmond lease specifically states, 
within the same provision as the arbitration language, that parties must seek 
mediation before resorting to court action, implying that court action is 
permissible after mediation fails. Richmond, 228 W. Va. at 140, 717 S.E.2d at 924. 
The Lease in this case, and more specifically its arbitration provision, contains no 
comparable implications. See Ex. A. Thus, because the two references to civil 
action in the Lease in question are not located within the same provision as 
the arbitration agreement, and the references do not contemplate or permit 
such actions by the parties to the Lease, the Lease's arbitration provision is 
not ambiguous, and should be enforced. 19 

E. CIRCUIT COURT ORDER. Unfortunately, the Circuit Court chose to enter an 

order proposed by Respondents that (1) violated the requirement that the arbitration provision be 

"severed from the remainder of a contract" and "tested separately under state contract law for 

validity and enforceability" and (2) relied upon contract provisions outside the arbitration 

provisions that did not compel or even permit civil litigation, but merely referenced "civil 

actions)) and"court of competent jurisdiction. "20 

19 [APP 47-48] [Emphasis supplied] 

20 [APP 75-81] 
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Specifically, the two provisions relied upon by the Circuit Court state as follows: 

SEVERABILITY. This Lease is intended to be in conformity with all laws, rules, 
regulations and orders and interpreted as such. If any provision of this Lease is 
held invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, the other 
provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect. Any provision of 
this agreement held invalid or unenforceable only in part or degree will remain in 
full force and effect to the extent not held invalid or unenforceable. 

(B) LIMITATION ON FORFEITURE. This Lease shall never be subject to a 
civil action or proceeding to enforce a claim of termination, cancellation, 
expiration or forfeiture due to any action or inaction by the Lessee, including but 
not limited to making any prescribed payments, unless the Lessee has received 
written notice of Lessor's demand and thereafter fails or refuses to satisry or 
provide justification responding to Lessor's demand within 60 days from the 
receipt of such notice ....21 

Adopting Respondents) argument that these provisions create such an ambiguity as to 

invalidate the arbitration clause, the Circuit Court held as follows: 

18. Upon review of the lease language ... the Court has determined that the 
lease language regarding arbitration is indeed ambiguous .... 

20. The reference to "courts [sic] of competent jurisdiction" and "civil 
actions" demonstrate ambiguity as to the ability to proceed with disputes in the 
civil court system as opposed to arbitration .... 

21. The ambiguous contract language at issue here much like the ambiguous 
language in Richmond American Homes demonstrates a failure of clear and 
unmistakable assent as to the issue ofarbitration.22 

Plainly, the Circuit Court erred by going outside the arbitration provision itself to find 

ambiguity within the arbitration provision and by holding that references to "any court of 

competent jurisdiction" in a separate severability clause and "a civil action" in a separate 

forfeiture clause created an ambiguity invalidating a clear and unambiguous arbitration provision. 

21 [APP 76-77] 

22 [APP 80-81] 
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m. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 


The Circuit Court erred by ruling that inclusion of a severability clause referencing" any 

court of competent jurisdiction" and a limitation of forfeiture clause referencing" a civil action" 

created an ambiguity permitting Respondents to sue under the contract at the same time they 

disclaim the validity ofa clear and unambiguous arbitration provision under that same contract. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Pursuant to R. App. P. 5(h), "[T]he Court will: (1) decide the case on the merits without 

oral argument; or (2) set the case for oral argument and then decide the case on the merits ...." 

Petitioner respectfully submits that this case is suitable for oral argument under R. App. P. 20 

before it is decided on the merits because this appeal involves substantial issues of public concern 

regarding whether the mere references to "any court of competent jurisdiction" or "a civil 

action" in other provisions of a contract will invalidate an otherwise clear and unambiguous 

arbitration provision in that same contract. 

V.ARGUMENT 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW. 

"When an appeal from an order denying a motion to dismiss and to compel arbitration is 

properly before this Court," this Court recently held, "our review is de novo.))23 "Moreover, to 

the extent that our resolution of this appeal necessitates our review of contractual issues," as this 

Court has stated, "we apply a de novo standard of review to [aJ circuit court's interpretation of [aJ 

contract. ))24 

23 Syl. pt. 1, West Virginia CVS Pharmacy~ LLC v. McDowell Pharmacy~ Inc., 2017 WL 562826 CW. 
Va.). 

24 Id. at *3 [Internal quotation marks and citations omitted] 
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B. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY RULING THAT THE MERE REFERENCES TO "ANY 
COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION" OR "A CIVIL ACTION" IN OTHER PROVISIONS 

OF A CONTRACT WILL INVALIDATE AN OTHERWISE CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS 

ARBITRATION PROVISION IN THAT SAME CONTRACT. 

The Federal Arbitration Act ["FAA"] provides: 

[A] written provision in . . . a contract evidencing a transaction involving 
commerce to settle by arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such 
contract or transaction ... shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon 
such grounds as exist in law or in equity for the revocation of any contract. ~5 

Recently, in Syllabus Points 3 through 7 of Salem International University) LLC v. Bates, 

238 W. Va. 229, 793 S.E.2d 879 (2016), this Court set forth the standards which govern the 

standards for application of this provision of the FAA: 

3. (( [T]he trial court may rely on general principles of state contract law in 
determining the enforceability of the arbitration clause." Syi. pt. 4, in part, State 
ex. Richmond Am. Homes of W. Va. v. Sanders, 228 W. Va. 125, 717 S.E.2d 909 
(2011). 

4. "The mere fact that parties do not agree to the construction of a contract 
does not render it ambiguous. The question as to whether a contract is ambiguous 
is a question of law to be determined by the court." Syi. pt. 1, Berkeley Co. Pub. 
Sem Dist. v. Vitro Corp. 152 W. Va. 252, 162 S.E.2d 189 (1968). 

5. "Contract language is considered ambiguous where an agreement's terms 
are inconsistent on their face or where the phraseology can support reasonable 
differences of opinion as to the meaning of words employed and obligations 
undertaken." SyI. pt. 6, State ex rei. Frazier & Oxley v. Cummings, 212 W. Va. 275, 
569 S.E.2d 796 (2002). 

6. «The term 'ambiguity' is defined as language reasonably susceptible of 
two different meanings or language of such doubtful meaning that reasonable 

25 9 U.S.C. § 2. It has been noted that, ((It is presumed that an arbitration provision in a written 
contract was bargained for and that arbitration was intended to be the exclusive means of resolving 
disputes under the contract. Thus, when parties to a contract agree to arbitrate disputes under the 
contract, such provision is binding and enforceable." F. Cleckley, R. Davis & L. Palmer, LITIGATION 
HANDBOOK ON WEST VIRGINIA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 4TH at § 8(c)[2][c][xiii] (2012)[Footnotes 
omitted] 
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minds might be uncertain or disagree as to its meaning." Syl. pt. 4, Estate of 
Tawney v. Columbia Nat. Res., 219 W. Va. 266, 633 S.E.2d 22 (2006). 

7. "In determining whether or not the parties to a collective bargaining 
agreement have agreed to submit a particular dispute to arbitration, it must be 
recognized that there is a presumption favoring arbitration, and this presumption 
may be rebutted only where it can be said with positive assurance that the 
arbitration clause is not susceptible of an interpretation that covers the asserted 
dispute." Syl. pt. 1, Local Div. No. 812 v. Transit Auth., 179 W. Va. 31,365 S.E.2d 
76 (1987). 

Here, the language of the arbitration agreement between the parties could not be clearer: 

ARBITRATION. In the event of a disagreement between Lessor and Lessee 
concerning this Lease, performance thereunder, or damages caused by Lessee's 
operations, the resolution of all such disputes shall be determined by 
arbitration in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration 
Association. All fees and costs associated with the arbitration shall be borne 
equally by Lessor and Lessee.26 

Accordingly, in order to extricate themselves from their plain agreement to arbitrate any 

disputes arising from the Lease, Respondents went outside the provisions of the arbitration 

clause to find language in an effort to cast doubt on whether they had not agreed to resolve all 

disputes arising under the Lease to be arbitrated. This Court, however, as well as other courts,

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