I. 


Response to Petitioner's Assignment of Error 


The trial court acted consistently with West Virginia law by reviewing other 

parts of the contract and finding that specific references to "courts" and "civil 

actions" rendered the arbitration clause ambiguous. 

II.

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

Summary of Argument 

The trial court, applying well-settled contract law, concluded that an 

arbitration clause contained in an oil and gas lease was ambiguous-particularly 

in light of references within the lease to "civil actions" and "courts of competent 

jurisdiction." Petitioner, the holder of the lease, insists that the trial court was 

limited to examining the language of the arbitration clause itself, but this is 

directly contrary to Richmond American Homes of West Virginia, Inc. v. Sanders, 

228 W.Va. 125, 717 S.E.2d 909 (2011) and its progeny. The trial court correctly 

applied the law, finding that mUltiple references to courts and the workings of 

the court system rendered the arbitration clause ambiguous and, therefore, 

unenforceable. 

IV. 


Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision 


Respondents believe that oral argument is appropriate. Unlike Petitioner, 

Respondents do not believe this case should be placed on the Rule 20 docket. 

This case does not raise any novel issues. Instead, it is simply an application of 

settled law-i.e., the law regarding the enforceability of arbitration clauses as 
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stated in Richmond American Homes of West Virginia, Inc. v. Sanders, 228 W.Va. 

125, 717 S.E.2d 909 (2011) and its progeny. 

V. 


Standard of Review 


"We review a trial court's denial of a motion to compel arbitration for an 

abuse of discretion and to determine whether the trial court's findings are 

supported by substantial evidence." Nationstar Mtg., LLC v. West, 237 W.Va. 84, 

87, 785 S.E.2d 634 (2016). 

VI. 

Argument 

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED CONSISTENTLY WITH WEST VIRGINIA LAW BY 

REVIEWING OTHER PARTS OF THE CONTRACT AND FINDING THAT 


SPECIFIC REFERENCES TO "COURTS" AND "CIVIL ACTIONS" RENDERED 

THE ARBITRATION CLAUSE AMBIGUOUS 


1. 	The FAA Policy Favoring The Application Of Arbitration Agreements 
Only Applies When A Valid And Enforceable Arbitration Agreement 
Exists 

Petitioner proceeds from a false premise: there is no federal public policy 

favoring arbitration where no valid agreement to arbitrate exists. The Federal 

Arbitration Act (FAA) was not enacted to force parties into arbitration, but to 

enforce agreements, voluntarily entered, to arbitrate specified disputes. 

"Arbitration is simply a matter of contract between parties; it is a way to resolve 

disputes-but only those disputes-that the parties have agreed to submit to 

arbitration." First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan, 514 U.S. 938, 943,115 S. 
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Ct. 1920, 1924, (1995); see also, AT & T Technologies, Inc. v. Communications 

Workers ofAm., 475 U.S. 643, 648-649, 106 S. Ct. 1415 (1986) ("[A]rbitration is 

a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any 

dispute which he has not so agreed to submit.... This axiom recognizes the fact 

that arbitrators derive their authority to resolve disputes only because the 

parties have agreed in advance to submit such grievances to arbitration." 

(internal citations omitted)). 

The FAA provides that a court may compel arbitration only "upon being 

satisfied that the making of the agreement or the failure to comply therewith is 

not at issue." 9 U.S.C. § 4. Thus, the FAA policy in favor of enforcing arbitration 

clauses does not come into play in determining whether an agreement to . 

arbitrate exists. See, Carson v. Giant Food, Inc., 175 F.3d 325, 329 (4th Cir. 

1999). In Granite Rock Co. v. International Brotherhood ofTeamsters, 130 S. Ct. 

2847,2850 (2010), the Supreme Court affirmed that courts must decide motions 

to compel arbitration by "applying the presumptioh of arbitrability only where a 

validly formed and enforceable arbitration agreement is unambiguous about 

whether it covers the dispute at hand." 

It follows that the burden is on the party seeking to compel arbitration to 

prove that a valid agreement to arbitrate was formed. See, e.g., Mendez v. Puerto 

Rican Int'l Companies, Inc., 553 F.3d 709 (3d Cir. 2009); Spaces, Inc. v. RPC 

Software, Inc., 2007 WL 675505 (D. Kan. Mar. 1, 2007) (party seeking to compel 

arbitration "bears the initial summary-judgment-like burden of establishing that 

6 




it is entitled to arbitration"; competing affidavits on Issue of whether parties 

agreed to arbitration created a genuine issue of material fact). 

Formation questions are always for the court. See, Granite Rock Co., 130 

S. Ct. at 2857-2858. The question of whether an agreement to arbitrate ever 

was formed is for the court to decide, not the arbitrator; if there never was an 

agreement to arbitrate, there is no right to force the matter before an arbitrator. 

See, Will-Drill Res., Inc. v. Samson Res. Co., 352 F.3d 211, 215, 220 (5th Cir. 

2003); Stephens v. TES Franchising, 2002 WL 1608281 (D. Conn. July 10,2002) 

(court uses ordinary contract law to interpret ambiguity concerning whether 

contract actually requires arbitration). 

2. 	Applying State Contract Law, The Arbitration Clause In Petitioner's 
Lease Was Ambiguous, Rendering It Invalid And Unenforceable 

The question of whether an arbitration agreement exists must be 

determined under state contract law. See, e.g., First Option of Chicago, Inc. v. 

Kaplan, 514 U.S. 938, 115 S. Ct. 1920; Hightower v. GMRI, 272 F3d 239 (4th Cir. 

2001); State ex rel. Richmond Am. Homes of w. Va., Inc. v. Sanders, 717 S.E.2d 

909, 918 (W. Va. 2011). Arbitration is a matter of contract, and a party cannot 

be required to arbitrate a dispute that it has not agreed to arbitrate. "Under the 

Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 2, parties are only bound to arbitrate those 

issues that by clear and unmistakable writing they have agreed to arbitrate. An 

agreement to arbitrate will not be extended by construction or implication." Syl. 

pt. 10, Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp., 228 W.Va. 646, 724 S.E.2d 250 (2011) 
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("Brown I"), overruled on other grounds by Marmet Health Care Ctr., Inc. v. Brown, 

132 S.Ct. 1201, 182 L.Ed.2d 42 (2012) (per curiam). 

Ambiguity is a contract defense which clearly applies in the instant case. 

In State ex reI. Richmond American Homes of West Virginia, Inc. v. Sanders, 228 

W.Va. 125, 717 S.E.2d 909 (2011), this Court confirmed that ~biguous 

language in an arbitration clause cannot be enforced and a party in such a 

situation cannot be forced into arbitration. More recently, the West Virginia 

Supreme Court reaffirmed the long-held position that "[u]nder the Federal 

Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 2, parties are only bound to arbitrate those issues 

that by clear and unmistakable writing they have agreed to arbitrate." Syl. 

Pt. 1, in part, State ex reI. U-Haul Co. of West Virginia v. Zakib, et al., 232 W.Va. 

432, (2013) (Emphasis added.) "[T]o be valid, an arbitration agreement must 

conform to the rules governing contracts[.]" Id., at 439 (citing SER AMF~ LLC, 

v. King, 230 W.Va. 471, 478, 740 S.E.2d 66,73 (2013)). Mutual assent is a key 

element to a contract and absent that assent, an "[a]rbitration [a]greement is 

invalid." Id. 

The general law of ambiguity in contracts is relatively straightforward: 

"Contract language is considered ambiguous where an agreement's terms are 

inconsistent on their face or where the phraseology can support reasonable 

differences of opinion as to the meaning of words employed and obligations 

undertaken." Syl. pt. 6, State ex reI. Frazier & Oxley, L.C. v. Cummings, 212 W.Va. 

275,569 S.E.2d 796 (2002). See also Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W.Va. 

52,65 n. 23,459 S.E.2d 329,342 n. 23 (1995). ("Ambiguity in a[n] ... instrument 
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consists of susceptibility of two or more meanings and uncertainty as to which 

was intended."). 

Petitioner here argues that the language of the alleged arbitration clause 

prohibits Respondents from filing any suit regarding any issue relating to the oil 

and gas lease. The lease itself, however, contemplates litigation by way of a "civil 

action" in a "court of competent jurisdiction." The arbitration clause at issue 

does not attempt define what arbitration is and does not in any manner explain 

to an unsophisticated individual that arbitration would foreclose the ability to 

pursue civil litigation. In light of specific lease language referencing civil actions 

and courts otherwise contained in the lease, the arbitration clause is ambiguous 

and demonstrates that there was no assent regarding the critical issue of 

arbitration. 

As noted earlier, Petitioner condemns the trial court for looking outside of 

the arbitration clause. Specifically, Petitioner suggests that the arbitration 

clause was unambiguous and that the trial court erred in looking beyond that 

clause. In making this argument, however, Petitioner misapplies the doctrine of 

severability. It is true that a party challenging an arbitration clause must 

challenge the clause itself rather than the contract as a whole. Brown v. Genesis 

Healthcare Corp., 228 W.Va. 646, 675, 724 S.E.2d 250 (2011)(stating, in part, 

that "only if a party explicitly challenges the enforceability of an arbitration 

clause within a contract is a court then permitted to consider challenges to the 
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arbitration clause"). Respondents did so in their brief opposing arbitration.4 

Next, the arbitration clause must be severed for analysis. That ~oes not mean 

the clause must be examined in a vacuum. Rather, it must be interpreted" in 

light of its greater context-i.e., the remaining contract language and the 

circumstances under which the contract was made. As this Court said in 

Richmond American: 

"[TJhe trial court may rely on general principles of state 
contract law in determining the enforceability of the 
arbitration clause. If necessary, the trial court may 
consider the context of the arbitration clause within the 
four corners of the contract, or consider any extrinsic 
evidence detailing the formation and use of the contract." 
228 W.Va. at 135,717 S.E.2d at 919. 

Far from limiting the scope of the trial court's inquiry, Richmond 

American authorizes the trial court to examine the entire contract and the 

circumstances of its making in order to resolve the threshold question of 

enforceability. This principle was reaffmned just last year in Schmacher Homes 

of Circleville) Inc. v. Spencer) 237 W.Va. 379, 388, 787 S.E.2d 650 

(2016)(repeating that: "in determining if the severed arbitration clause is 

enforceable under generic principles of contract law, the trial court can look at 

other parts of the contract that relate to, support, or are otherwise entangled 

with the operation of the arbitration clause"). 

4 Specifically, Respondents said in their briefmg: "In this brief the Plaintiffs specifically 
sever and challenge the validity and enforceability of the alleged arbitration language cited by 
the Defendants as opposed to a general challenge to the enforceability ofthe contract as a whole." 
App.36. 
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As the trial court found, two separate clauses in the lease agreement make 

specific references to civil actions and courts. One of the [mal clauses in the 

form lease at issue here very clearly contemplates that questions would be posed 

to "court[s] of competent jurisdiction" regarding the applicability and 

enforceability of language contained within the contract. The clause makes 

specific reference to "any court[s] of competent jurisdiction" (not to any arbitrator 

or the arbitration system). This clause is in direct conflict with an alleged 

arbitration clause which Petitioner claims would require all lease-based disputes 

to be determined by an arbitrator. The lease language, therefore, demonstrates 

confusion and ambiguity as to whether or not a lessor actually has the right to 

proceed with a civil action in a court of law. As one of the last provisions of the 

lease, the language of the severability clause would be one of the last things that 

a person would read before executing the agreement. This would be especially 

confusing in cases where the person who signed the agreement did not know 

what arbitration means. Again, arbitration was not defined in the arbitration 

clause or elsewhere in the agreement. 

Petitioner also ignores a provision of the lease which specifically references 

the filing of civil actions. The first page of the adhesive lease agreement contains 

a provision which purports to limit when, but not whether, a lessor may file a 

"civil action" alleging "termination, cancellation, expiration or forfeiture" of the 

lease. The clause also attempts to limit the damages incurred by a lessee during 

the pendency of disputes. In short, the purpose of the clause is two-fold-i.e., to 

11 




impose a 60 day cure period before the Lessor can bring a "civil action" and to 

limit the damages recoverable. 

Notably, the lease does not include any commensurate provision 

protecting the Lessor in the event that the Lessee attempts to shirk its 

responsibilities under the lease. As such, this clause also demonstrates the 

significant one-sidedness of the lease provisions. 5 This clause, likewise, is in 

direct contradiction to the position taken by Petitioner that the arbitration covers 

any and all disputes under the lease. The explicit references in the lease to civil 

actions and courts create ambiguity as it relates to the purported arbitration 

provision. Respondents did not and could not have agreed to arbitrate when 

such ambiguity exists. 

Richmond American, referenced above, dealt with tremendously similar 

ambiguities regarding the right to file civil actions. In that case, a home 

construction/purchase agreement contained an alleged arbitration clause 

purporting that arbitration was the only remedy available to a homebuyer. 

Another provision of the lease intimated that the home buyer retained rights to 

bring civil actions in courts before judges. The Court found that the language 

created ambiguity and confusion as to the ability to pursue civil litigation and 

that the contract had to be construed against the drafter and against forcing 

arbitration. Id. at 140, 925. The Court's ruling specifically noted that an 

5 The lease itself is full of one-sided, unfair and unconscionable clauses and terms 
including, but not limited to, the royalty rate, the delay rental rate, the deduction of "post
production costs" from the Lessor's royalty share, the Lessee's shut-in rights and rates, and a 
clause purporting to exclude important implied covenants. 
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"ambiguous contract provision, 'especially those have the qualities of a contract 

of adhesion,' are to be construed against the drafter[.]" Id. at FN 61 (citing Auber 

v. Jellen, 196 W.Va. 168, 469 S.E.3d 104 (1996)). 

According to Petitioner, Richmond American is distinguishable because the 

references to court proceedings "were located within the same contract 

provision." Brief of Petitioner, at 5. However, that is a distinction without a 

difference. Richmond American's syllabus explicitly gives the trial court power 

to consider the arbitration clause within the context of "the four corners of the 

contract." In Richmond American, the Supreme Court concluded that the 

language in the lease intimating that the right to civil litigation was being 

retained (including, as here, references to "courts" and "civil actions") "absolutely 

muddle[d]" the clause purporting to require arbitration of all disputes. 228 

W.Va. at 140, 717 S.E.2d at 924. 

The same is true here. Whether the language regarding civil litigation was 

located in the arbitration clause itself or elsewhere in the lease is irrelevant. 

Litigating a "civil action" in a "court of competent jurisdiction" is clearly 

inconsistent with Petitioner's view that the lease does, in fact, require mandatory 

arbitration of all disputes. Because the language could reasonably be construed 

as having retained the right to civil litigation, the trial court correctly found it to 

be ambiguous. 
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Petitioner also cites a federal case, Dytko v. Chesapeake Appalachian LLC) 

Civil Action No. 5:13CV150 (N.D. W.Va. 5/30/14), in an effort to bolster its 

argument. 6 But Dytko does not help Petitioner's cause. 

To begin with, Dytko is factually distinguishable. The plaintiff in Dytko 

was actively engaged in negotiations with the defendant, Chesapeake, regarding 

the language of the lease. In fact, the plaintiff insisted that a clause authorizing 

Chesapeake to automatically renew the lease be removed. Here, there is no 

evidence suggesting that Respondents played any role in negotiating the lease or 

drafting its terms. 

6 Petitioner suggests that Respondents' failure to cite Dytko in briefmg before the trial 
court may have constituted a violation of Rule 3.3(a)(2) of the Rules of Professional Conduct.

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